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This year Indue achieved 
some significant milestones 
in delivering the next wave  
of payment innovation.

“
Frank Gullone
Chair, Board

2



Chair &  
CEO Report.
The year has been one of 
remarkable achievements and 
progress for Indue. 

We are continuing to experience 
significant industry disruption, 
transformation, change and 
opportunity, to which we have 
responded with an increased 
focus on investment in innovative 
solutions to deliver relevant and 
valued services. 

 With major enhancements and 
implementations of our best-
in-class product suite, new and 
renewed client partnerships, 
highly successful flagship industry 
events, a growing team of talented 
professionals, and a sharpened 
focus on our purpose and broader 
community impact, we have 
continued to build momentum 
and seize opportunities in a 
rapidly evolving sector. 

As leaders of this dynamic and 
driven organisation, we are 
delighted and proud to present 
the progress we’ve made, the 
achievements of our dedicated 
team, and the successful 
outcomes we have delivered. 

Shaping the future  
of payments 
The ongoing transformation of 
digital payments, mobile wallets 
and payment apps, generational 
change in central payment 
technology, the evolution of 

e-commerce, and the growth of 
AI, have changed the payments 
landscape. 

Significant disruption created by 
an evolving fintech sector, the 
continued rise of cybercrime, new 
payment systems and the digital 
transformation of the economy 
are creating new challenges 
across the payments ecosystem. 

We are responding to this rapid 
change by supporting our clients 
with all their digital payments 
needs, including real-time secure 
payment capabilities. 

We continue to work closely 
with our clients to support them 
in responding and adapting to 
the changing landscape with 
innovative products and a deep 
and highly engaged services 
support model. 

We also continue to influence the 
strategic direction of payments 
in the best interest of our clients, 
through our senior stakeholder 
roles in AusPayNet and Australian 
Payments Plus. The long awaited 
delivery of the Strategic Plan for 
Payments by the Government 
earlier this year and the strategic 
priorities for AP+ have collectively 
paved a clear path forward for 
strategic client focus on payments.

We have been sharing our 
insights and working with our 
clients to ensure they capitalise 
on the opportunities for their 
customers in the years ahead. 

 

Derek Weatherley
Chief Executive Officer
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Leading the way on 
payment innovation 
We have worked hard to remain 
at the forefront of the mobile 
and digital payments evolution, 
and this year Indue achieved 
some significant milestones 
in delivering the next wave of 
payment innovation, including: 

•	 Completing our mobile and 
digital payments program – we 
strengthened our full suite of 
mobile payments capabilities 
to clients, enabling them 
to provide their customers 
with more seamless digital 
payments experiences on all 
the various components of 
mobile payments, including the 
full suite of mobile payment 
wallets, card controls, instant 
issuance, lost and stolen 
management and bank ‘in app’ 
provisioning.

•	Launch of PayTo – the PayTo 
launch is a natural extension 
of Indue’s NPP and PayID 
capabilities, providing our 
clients with a world-leading 
modern payment system for 
customers, a new digital 
way for merchants and 
businesses to initiate real-
time payments from their 
customers’ bank accounts 
and giving client’s customers 
greater control over these 
payments. Our team of NPP 

experts are working through 
connecting all our clients - 

delivering their customers a 
faster, simpler, and smarter real-
time payment service.

•	 Launching our API gateway – 
by leveraging cloud technology 
we have simplified our stack 
and reduced operational costs 
for clients and improved their 
onboarding experience.

•	 Instant ‘Direct to Wallet’ 
Issuance - a feature for  
our clients to enable new 
account holders’ access to  
use their card immediately  
via their mobile wallets.  
This secure feature is a natural 
complement to issuers with a 
digital channel for attracting 
new customers as part of the 
digital fulfilment experience.

•	 Upgrading High Value Payment 
Processing capability - we 
upgraded our High Value 
Payment Processing service 
to maximise efficiency 
and security of the system 
and enable domestic and 
international payment system 
interoperability with enriched 
data. This was undertaken 
in conjunction with the 
rollout of a major multi-year 
industry upgrade to ISO20022 
messaging standards, 
designed to future proof  
the payment system.

Meeting critical  
market challenges 
To address the growing prevalence  
of economic crime we extended our  
industry-leading Orion Financial  
Crime Service to integrate AI  
machine learning and model  
building tools to deliver an even 
greater agile fraud detection 
solution. Our track record of 
investment and results in this area 
speaks for themselves. 

This year we celebrate 20 stellar 
Years of our Orion Financial Crime 
Service, a significant milestone 
in the history of this excellent 
service - Over the course of  
20 years, Orion has monitored 
3.9 trillion transactions, resulting 
in >6 million alerts processed, 
saving $1.3 trillion in at risk funds! 

We will continue to lead the 
market with further investment in  
this service with state-of-the-art 
features, such as behavioural  
bio-metrics, as a key priority 
for our clients to mitigate the 
impacts of scams. We made 
significant enhancements to our 
Anti-Money Laundering (AML) 
transaction monitoring service 
during the year, which improved 
the ability of our clients to protect 
their communities and meet their 
regulatory obligations. 

Delivering more  
for our clients and  
their customers 
Given the prevailing hyper-
competitive market, we are 
very pleased to report that our 
deep partnership approach with 
clients has delivered significant 
success during the year, with 
the extension of nearly all of our 
client relationships. 

From mutual, community and 
regional banks to credit unions, 
prepaid card program managers 

Our deep  
partnership  
approach with  
clients has  
delivered significant 
success during  
the year.

“

Frank Gullone
Chair, Board
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and a range of commercial 
organisations, this year’s client  
extensions underscore the 
significance of enduring 
collaborations in delivering 
excellent products to market, a 
deep service proposition, first 
rate service and an ethos of 
partnership in everything we do. 

We are also pleased to have 
welcomed several new clients and 
significantly extended our service 
offering to others over the past 
twelve months including Auswide, 
Summerland, Great Southern 
Bank, Constantinople, The Mutual 
Bank, Bank of us and Newcastle 
Permanent.

We are excited to join these 
organisations on their journey  
of innovation and transformation 
and are very much looking 
forward to working with them as 

they respond to shifting payments 
landscape and the evolving needs 
of their customers. 

Insights for competitive 
advantage 
Throughout the year Indue hosted 
a range of events and programs 
designed to deliver unique 
insights and provide our clients 
with a competitive advantage to 
propel their business forward. 

A key highlight this financial year 
was our highly successful ‘id8 
Innovation Tour’ to the United 
States in October 2022. 

The first leg was the Money 20/20 
Conference, which explored the 
future of fintech and prominent 
emerging themes in payments 
and banking. 

Back Row: Ryan Spain – Chief Information Officer, Geraldine Rigo – Company Secretary,  
Fred Perry – Chief Customer Officer, Derek Weatherley – Chief Executive Officer

Front Row: Bill Cadzow – Head of People & Culture, Kevin Lugg – Chief Delivery Officer,  
Jane Hinton – General Counsel and Chief Risk Officer, Adrian Buckley – Chief Financial Officer

We were hosted by our major 
partners touring through Silicon 
Valley visiting some of the world’s 
leading fintechs, bigtech and 
universities, where we explored 
emerging technology and trends 
in the digital commerce space, 
data, AI, robotics and a broad 
range of innovation opportunities. 

We also held a successful and 
memorable Leadership Summit 
in May 2023, where a packed 
program of national leaders and 
international keynote speakers 
delved into the future of 
payments.

The Summit provided a host  
of in-depth insights across  
key themes including data, 
financial crime, governance,  
and adaptability, to help  
our clients navigate future  
challenges and opportunities.
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A better tomorrow 
We announced to key 
stakeholders in April this year 
that we had signed a non-binding 
agreement to explore a merger 
with Australian Settlements Ltd. 

The merger has the potential 
to create a large scale, mutually 
minded, national payments 
organisation, who is the leading 
choice for payments for mutual, 
community, regional and 
international banks, corporates, 
fintech and governments in 
Australia and New Zealand. 

We look forward to closing out 
the due diligence phase soon and 
providing further information at 
that time. 

Shining a light on 
community impact 
This year we unveiled our new 
community program - Illumin8. 
Informed by our guiding principle 
Powering Your Purpose, llumin8 
is an initiative focused on positive 
social impact that supports 
causes close to the heart of our 
clients and the work they do in 
their communities.

This program creates positive 
social impact, in partnership with 
our clients. We have a range 
of exciting events planned in 
the year ahead that focus on 
supporting the communities that 
we serve and deepening our 
partnerships with our clients.

Success through 
teamwork
At the heart of our continued 
success is the dedication and 
expertise of our team members. 
Our team now extends to 
more than 200 people, with our 
Brisbane team moving to new 
offices in South Brisbane.

The commitment to delivering 
exceptional client service and 
continuous innovations in our 
product offerings, spearheaded 
by our talented workforce, plays 
a pivotal role in high levels of 
customer advocacy.

The invaluable client feedback 
we receive is a testament to the 
collective efforts and hard work  
of the entire Indue team and we 
very much value the broad rituals 
that we enjoy with our clients 
that bind us tightly together 
and foster deep corporate and 
community partnerships.

Acknowledgements
A sincere thank you to the 
Indue team for your invaluable 
contribution throughout the year. 
Your dedication and efforts have 
been the driving force behind  
our success.

We would also like to thank the 
Board and Executive Team for 
their contribution and in particular 
to acknowledge the contribution 
of Mike Currie who retired 
from the Indue Board during 
the year. Mike made a valuable 
contribution in the 5 ½ years that 
he served on the Board and we 
wish him all the very best in  
the future.

It is also with great sadness 
this year that we learned of the 
passing of our foundation Chair, 
the Hon. Mike Ahern, who guided 
Indue through its formation 
and continued to serve for the 
following 16 years as Chair of the 
Board. He was a true gentleman, 
and we are blessed to have known 
him and have him serve our 
company, industry and our clients.

Key Operating 
Highlights from  
FY23 include: 
•	 Scams and phishing prevention 

continue to be a large focus 
as fraudsters develop more 
advanced social engineering 
methods to obtain information 
from customers directly. We are 
monitoring over 414 million 
transactions per annum for 
detection of fraud and AML  
as part of our Orion Crimes 
24/7 service. This delivered 
over $223 million in fraud 
savings for our clients – an  
14% increase on FY22.

•	 Over 200,000 hours spent 
developing and enhancing 
solutions for our customers.

•	 Settled approximately 202 
million transactions, up 6%  
on FY22.

Indue recorded its strongest 
financial performance since 2017. 
This has enabled a program of 
accelerated investment across 
risk and product to deliver further 
benefits for our customers. 
Payment volumes continued to 
increase throughout the year, 
helping to deliver the 2%  
increase in Profit Before Tax  
(PBT) result of $5.0m. 

Cash earnings grew 3% to a 
record $14.1m. The ongoing 
efficiency programs have enabled 
us to deliver scale benefits to 
our customers by lowering cost 
of service to support them in an 
always competitive market. 

Our capital position remains 
strong, with the Tier 1 ratio lifting 
to 17.75% at the end of FY23, an 
increase of 1.5% on last year. 

We are pleased to be able to share 
this strong result with our owners 
and provide a return on their 
invested capital. We have declared 
a fully franked dividend of $7.
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375 million
transactions monitored

$194 million
in fraud savings

200,000 hours 
spent developing & 
enhancing solutions  
for our customers 

191 million 
transactions settled 
up 4%

Indue recorded its

strongest
financial performance 
since 2017 

Derek Weatherley
Chief Executive Officer

Frank Gullone
Chair, Board

Focus on seizing 
opportunity
Indue is set for its next exciting 
phase of growth. While there are 
many challenges in the payment 
sector, we see an abundance of 
opportunities.

Indue will continue to innovate  
and adapt to rapid change. We will 
continue to invest in technology 
and innovation, supporting clients 
through ongoing digital disruption 
across the economy.

We are committed to continuing to 
play a significant role in the industry, 
influencing policy and regulation for 
the betterment of the future of our 
industry and to further the mission 
of our valued clients.

Over the longer-term, Indue 
remains determined to create 
deep and valuable relationships 
with clients, where we help them 
stay relevant in a fast-moving 
environment and support them  
to achieve their goals. 

FY18

8 16

5 10

7 14

4 8

2 4

6 12

3 6

1 2

FY19

Cash Earnings ($ Million’s)Profit Before Tax ($ Million’s)

FY22

13.7

4.9

9.2

FY21

12.1

3.6

FY20

10

2.9

8.54.34.4

14.1

FY23 

5.0
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132 hours 
Spent volunteering by  

Indue employees

$5,500
Raised through Indue  

charity donations 

100%
Indue employee volunteers  

found the experience rewarding

$12,500
in donations made to our  

customers community initiatives

Community impact.

$70,000+
Raised through Vinnies 

 CEO Sleepout since 2017

50+ lives saved
Through Australian Red Cross 

Lifeblood blood donations
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Supporting a better 
future for our 
communities 
Indue is dedicated to powering 
the purpose of our clients, 
employees, and the communities 
we serve across Australia. 

This year we continued our 
participation and support of the 
Vinnies CEO Sleepout and their 
fight against homelessness, with 
a total of $70k+ raised over the 
past six years. 

Our employees donated enough 
blood to save 50+ lives, as part of 
their continued blood donations 
to the Australian Red Cross 
Lifeblood program. 

We also contributed to positive 
social and environmental 
outcomes through donations 
and volunteering with a range 
of important organisations, 
including Salvation Army, 
OzHarvest, Movember, R U OK? 
Day, Cancer Council, and a 
donation to support the flood 
affected communities of  
Northern NSW. 

We continue to implement 
sustainability practices and 
employee wellbeing policies 
across our business. This will be 
further exemplified this year with 
our Brisbane team relocating  
to an environmentally friendly  
and flexible office building in  
South Brisbane. 

Our support for clients also 
extends to protecting and 
supporting their customers 
and communities by providing 
emergency relief during natural 
disasters, maintaining access to 

critical banking services and 
providing immediate access to 
disaster relief type payments, 
through to protecting vulnerable 
customers by preventing scams 
and fraud. 

Shining a light on  
social impact 
During the year we proudly 
launched our new community 
program - Illumin8 - an initiative 
focused on positive social impact 
that supports causes close to 
the heart of our employees and 
clients and the work they do in 
their communities. 

Illumin8 demonstrates our 
commitment to collaborating with 
partners to accelerate positive 
social outcomes, achieved most 
effectively in a fast-paced, digital 
economy through compassionate, 
compelling actions. 

Our values:  
‘Go Far. Go Together’; ‘Real Heart. 
Real Action’; and ‘Open Mind, 
Open Doors’ shape how we 
deliver the Illumin8 program. 
Honouring these values will see 
Indue strengthen our partnership 
approach, to be the change we 
want to see, always receptive to 
opportunities and ready to deepen 
strategic connections, for the 
greater good. 

While prioritising positive social 
impacts is not a new focus for  
Indue, with the added momentum 
of Illumin8, we are in a strong 
position to fulfil our commitment 
of providing value to all our 
stakeholders and creating 
genuine positive social impact.

132 hours 
Spent volunteering by  

Indue employees

$5,500
Raised through Indue  

charity donations 

Community impact.
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Corporate  
Governance report.
Overview 
The Board is committed to 
sound and prudent standards 
of corporate governance for 
Indue and the Governance, 
Remuneration & Nominations 
Committee (”Committee”) is 
responsible for advising the Board 
and monitoring Indue’s compliance 
with these standards. The Board 
maintains a statement of corporate 
governance principles, which 
defines the framework under 
which Indue Ltd (“the Company”) 
is directed. The implementation 
of this disciplined governance 
structure ensures appropriate 
development, prioritisation and 
delivery of business strategies, as 
well as consistent and informed 
decision making to conduct the 
Company’s activities and achieve 
its objectives. In addition, the 
Committee continues to ensure 
that Indue complies with the 
Australian Prudential Regulation 
Authority’s (APRA) Governance 
Prudential Standards.  
The Board of Directors of Indue is 
accountable to the Company to 
ensure the safety of shareholder 
funds and that the Company 
operates in a sustainable and 
responsible way. The Board aims to 
achieve these objectives through: 

•	  improving the performance of 
Indue through the formulation, 
adoption and monitoring 
of corporate strategies, 
budgets, plans, policies and 
performance;

•	 setting strategic direction, 
targets and monitoring 
the performance of senior 
management and of itself;

•	 monitoring the conduct of 
the Company and senior 
management;

•	 ensuring the annual review  
of succession planning;

•	 identifying and monitoring 
the management of the 
principal risks and the financial 
performance of Indue; and

•	 putting appropriate procedures 
in place to satisfy its corporate 
and legal responsibilities whilst 
conducting its business in 
compliance with all laws and 
in an honest, open and ethical 
manner. 

Subject to certain reservations, 
the Board has delegated 
responsibility for the management 
of the day-to-day activities of 
Indue to its Chief Executive 
Officer. 
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Board Meetings 
The number of Board meetings 
and each Director’s attendance at 
those meetings is set out in the 
report of the Directors. Directors are 
expected to prepare for, attend and 
participate at Board meetings and 
meetings of committees. 

The Board meets principally at  
either the head office in Brisbane  
or the Company’s office in Sydney.  
Wherever circumstances prevent 
physical attendance at meetings, 
the Board meets via online 
videoconference facilities. 

New Directors, Induction  
and Continuing Education
The Committee oversees the 
appointment of new Directors to 
the Board. To ensure that the Board 
has the necessary and desirable 
competencies, when considering 
any recommended appointments 
to the Board the Committee takes 
into consideration the mix of skills, 
experience, expertise, diversity 
and other qualities of the existing 
Directors and assesses the skills 
required to discharge competently 
the Board’s duties having regard 
to the Company’s performance, 
financial position and strategic 
direction. Management, working with 
the Board, provides an orientation 
program for new Directors.  
The program includes discussions 
with executives and management, 
and where requested, the external 
auditor, and reading material.  
This material covers the Company’s 
strategic plans, its significant financial, 
accounting and risk management 

issues, compliance programs, 
management structure, internal and 
external audit programs, and Directors’ 
rights, duties and responsibilities. 
Management periodically provides 
additional information sessions for 
Directors about the Company, and 
the factors impacting, or likely to 
impact, the businesses. 

These assist the Directors to gain a 
broader understanding of the Company 
and its industry. Directors are also 
encouraged to keep up to date on 
topical issues. 

Performance Evaluation 
The Board assesses its effectiveness 
regularly through an evaluation 
process, which includes assessment of:

•	 the appropriateness and relevance 
of the meeting schedule and agenda;

•	 the appropriateness, relevance, 
content and standard of Board 
material;

•	 the identification and management 
of risks faced by the Company;

•	 the range and standard of skills 
available at Board level;

•	 the collective and individual 
performance of Directors; and

•	 the performance of its Chair.

For the reporting period, the Board 
undertook this evaluation process 
by conducting an internal self-
assessment process. 

In addition, the Board assesses 
annually the performance of the  
Chief Executive Officer and Executive 
Leadership Team against agreed 
objectives. 
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Remuneration of 
Directors 
The constitution of the Company 
provides for two Groups of 
Directors, both elected in 
accordance with the constitution. 
Group One Directors, referred to 
as ‘Industry Directors’, must be 
officers, employees or associates 
of a member. Group Two Directors, 
referred to as ‘Independent 
Directors’ must not be officers, 
employees or associates of a 
member. Industry Directors are 
not remunerated by the Company. 
Independent Directors are 
remunerated by the Company, 
with shareholders determining 
the maximum annual aggregate 
amount of remuneration that may 
be provided to them at the Annual 
General Meeting. The Committee 
receives advice from independent 
experts on appropriate levels  
of Director remuneration and 
guides the Board in this regard.  
The remuneration of key personnel 
is disclosed in note 17. 

Performance & 
Remuneration of Senior 
Executives 
The Company’s performance 
management framework covers all 
senior executives of the Company 
and entails the setting of Key Result 
Areas (including both financial 
and non-financial measures). 
Performance discussions are 
conducted bi-annually between 
each senior executive and their 
manager, with a formal end of year 

review which includes comparing 
and calibrating each senior 
executive to the performance of 
peers. For the reporting period, this 
performance assessment process 
was conducted in accordance with 
the agreed framework. 

The Board, on advice from the 
Committee, sets the remuneration 
and performance objectives 
of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Executive Leadership Team and 
Specially Designated Positions. 
Remuneration is reviewed within 
a Board-established framework, 
which includes base remuneration, 
the short-term performance 
incentive program and, for key 
executives, a long-term retention 
program. The Committee 
is assisted by independent 
experts providing advice and 
benchmarking data. 

Access to Management 
Board members have complete 
and open access to management. 
The Company Secretary provides 
advice and support to the Board, 
and the Chief Risk Officer is 
responsible for the Company’s  
day-to-day governance framework. 
In addition, each Director is entitled 
to seek independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense, 
with the prior approval of the 
Chair. The Board can conduct or 
direct any investigation to fulfil its 
responsibilities and can retain, at 
the Company’s expense, any legal, 
accounting or other services, it 
considers necessary to perform  
its duties. 

Risk Management & 
Internal Audit 
The Board is responsible for 
reviewing and approving the 
overall risk management strategy, 
including determining the 
Company’s appetite for risk.  
The CEO and Executive Leadership 
Team have the day-to-day 
responsibility of implementing 
Indue’s risk management strategy 
and frameworks and for identifying 
and managing risk. On at least an 
annual basis, Indue’s risk management 
framework is formally reviewed and 
management provide attestations  
to the Board that confirm that all 
key risks facing Indue have been 
identified, that management has 
established systems to monitor and  
manage those risks and the risk 
management frameworks are 
operating effectively and are 
adequate having regard to the  
risks they are designed to control.  
This review process was completed 
for the reporting period. 

The Company has an 
independent internal audit 
function (currently outsourced 
to professional services firm, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers) that 
reports to the Audit Committee. 
The internal audit function is 
responsible for evaluating, 
testing and reporting on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal controls. 
To ensure independence, the 
Company’s Internal Audit function 
has a direct reporting line to the 
Chair of the Audit Committee.
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Board Committees
To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, 
the Board has established a number of Committees. 
Each Committee has its own charter, which sets out 
its responsibilities. The Board had the following 
Committees during the financial year:

•	 Audit Committee;

•	 Risk Committee;

•	 Governance, Remuneration & 
Nominations Committee; and

•	 Information Technology Committee
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The number of meetings of the Audit Committee held 
during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by the Committee members were as follows:

Audit Committee Held Attended

Chair S Rix 4 4

Members A De Fazio 4 4

P Townsend 4 4

T Oldham 4 4

The meetings held during the year indicate the number 
of meetings held during the period the individual was 
a Committee member. 

Audit Committee
Principal Responsibilities are as follows:
•	 to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, by 

providing an independent, objective, non-executive 
review of the effectiveness of reporting of financial 
information and the internal control environment;

•	 to oversee and appraise the effectiveness of the 
audit program conducted by the Company’s 
internal and external auditors;

•	 to monitor the Company’s processes for 
compliance with financial reporting laws and 
regulations;

•	 to maintain open lines of communications among 
the Board, the internal auditors and the external 
auditors to exchange views and information, as 
well as confirm their respective authority and 
responsibilities;

•	 to review the financial information presented by 
management to shareholders and regulators; and

•	 to consider the adequacy of the Company’s 
administrative operating and accounting controls, 
in line with audit reports and where the Committee 
considers appropriate, report to the Board on any 
changes to laws, regulations or standards relevant 
to the Company in this context.

A reference to “internal auditors” includes contemplation 
of an internal audit department entirely resourced by 
employees of Indue, a fully outsourced internal audit 
function or a co-sourced internal audit function. 
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Risk Committee
Principal Responsibilities are as follows:
•	 provide oversight of the implementation, 

effectiveness and operation of the Company’s risk 
management function and systems (which includes 
all material risks as defined in the Company’s risk 
management strategy);

•	 oversight of the Company’s risk profile and 
assessment of this alignment with the Board’s Risk 
Appetite Statement;

•	 support the oversight and promotion of the risk 
culture of the Company;

•	 review assurances to enable the Board and the 
Risk Committee to make declarations on risk 
management to APRA as required;

•	 commission a comprehensive independent review 
(to be conducted every three years or as required 
by APRA) on the appropriateness, effectiveness 
and adequacy of the Company’s risk management 
framework and Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP), and consider the 
results of the report;

•	 review management’s plans to mitigate material 
risks faced by the Company;

•	 make recommendations to the Board concerning 
the Company’s current and future risk appetite, risk 
management strategy and particular risks or risk 
management practices;

•	 consider new business opportunities, products 
or initiatives that have been assessed against the 
Company’s Risk Appetite Statement and either 
approve, not approve or require additional work  
or activities be undertaken by management;

•	 provide oversight of the implementation, 
effectiveness and operation of Indue’s compliance 
management function and systems;

•	 oversee the Company’s compliance with APRA 
Prudential Standards;

•	 review significant findings of any internal and 
external compliance reports, consider the adequacy 
of management responses and ensure that risks are 
mitigated in line with the Company’s risk appetite 
statement and risk management strategy;

•	 consider the adequacy of the Company’s credit, 
liquidity, large exposure, operational and market 
risk controls in compliance with APRA Prudential 
Standards;

•	 advise the Board on the impact the Company’s 
strategic direction will have on the Company 
relative to its capitalisation, the composition of  
its capital base and the ownership structure of the 
Company;

•	 advise the Board on the alternatives for 
capitalisation and impacts of regulatory change 
on the Company relative to its capitalisation and 
composition of its capital base;

•	 recommend dividend payments to the Board in line 
with the Company’s Dividend Policy;

•	 oversee the Company’s ICAAP and Capital Stress 
Testing; and

•	 make appropriate recommendations to the Board 
so that it is aware of matters that may impact the 
Company’s ability to remain adequately capitalised 
in the future.

The number of meetings of the Risk Committee held 
during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by the Risk Committee members were  
as follows: 

Risk Committee Held Attended

Chair T Oldham 5 5

P Wright 5 5

Members M Currie1 3 3

S Rix 5 5

(1) M Currie retired as a Director on 20 January 2023.

The meetings held during the year indicate the number 
of meetings held during the period the individual was 
a Committee member. 
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Principal Responsibilities are as follows:
•	 develop and recommend to the Board for 

approval the Company’s Statement of Corporate 
Governance Principles;

•	 review the Board’s committee structure and 
establish principles under which they operate 
in accordance with the constitution and good 
corporate governance principles;

•	 develop and recommend to the Board for its 
approval, an annual evaluation process of the Board 
and its committees;

•	 review the Board’s meeting procedures, including 
the appropriateness and adequacy of the 
information supplied to Directors prior to and 
during Board meetings;

•	 review and recommend to the Board for its 
approval an Accountability Matrix for the Company 
and Accountability Statements for each Executive 
and Board member;

•	 review outside directorships in other companies 
held by senior company officials;

•	 evaluate the skills required to discharge the Board’s 
duties having regard to the Company’s strategic 
direction, performance and financial position;

•	 develop and implement processes to assess 
whether the necessary and desirable competencies 
and skills are represented on the Board;

•	 undertake the process for considering and 
recruiting new Board members and recommend 
preferred candidates to the Board;

•	 develop and recommend to the Board for its 
approval the Company’s Nominations Policy and 
the manner and processes in which the Board 
reviews and selects potential Directors and 
determines Director tenure, Board composition  
and Board size;

•	 oversee the annual retirement and appointment of 
Directors as part of the re-election processes as set 
out in the Constitution;

•	 develop and recommend succession planning  
for Directors;

•	 develop and recommend to the Board for its 
approval the Company’s Remuneration Policy;

•	 annually review the effectiveness and compliance of 
the Company and the Remuneration Policy with the 
requirements of governance prudential standards;

•	 make annual recommendations to the Board 
in respect of the remuneration of the CEO, the 
Executive Leadership Team, those occupying 
Special Designated Positions, and any other person 
whose remuneration is designated by APRA as 
being required to be reviewed by the Board; and

•	 annually review the Company’s Succession Planning 
activities for the CEO and other key Executive 
Management roles. 

The number of meetings of the GRN Committee held 
during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by the GRN Committee members were  
as follows: 

Governance, Remuneration  
& Nominations (GRN) 
Committee Held Attended

Chair F Gullone 3 3

Members M Currie1 1 1

A De Fazio 3 3

P Townsend 3 3

(1) M Currie retired as a Director on 20 January 2023.

The meetings held during the year indicate the number 
of meetings held during the period the individual was 
a Committee member. 

Governance, Remuneration & Nominations (GRN) Committee
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Information Technology Committee  
(ITC)
Principal Responsibilities are as follows:
•	 assist the board of Directors in fulfilling its 

responsibilities relating to the Information 
Technology (IT) Management and reporting 
practices of the Company;

•	 ensure effectiveness of enterprise IT strategy;

•	 ensure strategic alignment and ongoing health  
of the portfolio of IT Investment; and

•	 monitor effectiveness of compliance with IT  
and related business policies.

The number of meetings of the ISC held during  
the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by the ISC members were as follows: 

Information Steering 
Committee Held Attended

Chair P Wright 4 4

Members T Oldham 4 4

The meetings held during the year indicate the number 
of meetings held during the period the individual was  
a Committee member.

	

F Gullone	
Chair, Board	

25 August 2023
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Directors’ Report

The Directors submit the following report on Indue Ltd in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2023.

Directors
The names of the persons who have been Directors, or appointed as Directors, during the period since 1 July 2022 
and up to the date of this report are: Frank Gullone (Chair), Michael Currie, Anthony De Fazio, Peter Townsend, 
Peter Wright, Susan Rix, Timothy Oldham and Byron Fuller. 

Particulars of the Directors as at the date of this Report, including all other directorships held by the Director,  
are set out here. 

Back Row: Peter Townsend, Tim Oldham, Peter Wright 
Front Row: Byron Fuller, Geraldine Rigo, Frank Gullone, Susan Rix, Anthony De Fazio
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Directors’ Report

Frank Gullone 
B.Bus (Acc), GradDip SI, 
AMP (Harvard), FCPA, FAICD

Director since 02.04.13 and  
Chair since 28.08.20

Indue committees:  
Governance, Remuneration  
and Nominations.

Other Directorships Held  
(at date of report)

Director, Gullone Group Pty Ltd 

Director, Gullone Commercial 
Solutions Pty Ltd

Michael Francis Currie 
B.Bus, MAppFin, GradDip 
FinPlan, F Fin, GAICD

Director since 20.06.17;  
retired as a director 20.01.23

Indue committees:  
Governance, Remuneration  
and Nominations; Risk.

Other Directorships Held 
(at date of report)

N/A 

Anthony De Fazio 
B.Com, FCPA

Director since 04.07.19  
Indue committees:  
Governance, Remuneration  
and Nominations; Audit. 

Other Directorships Held  
(at date of report)

Director, Victoria Police Legacy 
Scheme Incorporated 

Peter Robert Townsend  
MBA, MAICD, FAMI, JP 

Director since 22.08.01

Indue committees:  
Governance, Remuneration  
and Nominations; Audit.

Other Directorships Held  
(at date of report)

Director, The Kempsey Golf 
Club Ltd  
Director, Country Universities 
Centre 

Peter Hooper Wright 
MBA, MAICD 

Director since 01.08.18

Indue committees:  
Risk; Information Technology.

Other Directorships Held  
(at date of report)

Managing Director, PHW 
Consulting Pty Ltd 

Susan Rix AM 
B. Fin Admin (UNE), FCA  
and FAICD

Director since 08.01.21

Indue committees:  
Audit; Risk.

Other Directorships Held 
(at date of report)

Chair, AEIOU Foundation Ltd 

Director, SBR Consulting Pty Ltd 

Director, UnitingCare 
Queensland  
Director, The Bird Family 
Foundation Pty Ltd 

Timothy Oldham 
B.Comm, GradDip SIA  
and GAICD

Director since 27.09.21

Indue committees:  
Risk; Information Technology.

Other Directorships Held 
(at date of report)

Director, Bank of China 
Australia Limited  
Director, Waves of Wellness 
Foundation  
Director, Copo Pty Ltd 

Director, Tudibaring Partners 
Pty Ltd 

Byron Fuller 
B.Bus, MAppFin,  
GradDip App Fin, CPA 

Director since 26.05.23 

Indue committees:  
Risk; Information Technology

Other Directorships Held  
(at date of report)

NA
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Company Secretary
The details of the Company Secretaries holding office at the end of the reporting period are disclosed below:

Name Qualifications Experience

Jane Elizabeth Hinton LLB •	 Solicitor since 2006;

•	 Indue Ltd Company Secretary since February 2012; and

•	 Currently General Counsel, Chief Risk Officer & Company 
Secretary, Indue Ltd.

Geraldine Rigo BCom, BEcon •	 Appointed Indue Ltd Company Secretary March 2022; and

•	 Currently Head of Risk & Compliance, and Company 
Secretary, Indue Ltd

Director’s Meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of Indue Ltd during 
the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in the table below:

Directors

Board Meetings Committee Meetings

# of  
meetings eligible 

to attend

# of  
meetings 
attended

# of  
meetings eligible  

to attend

# of  
meetings 
attended

Frank Gullone (Chair) 14 14 5 5

Peter Townsend 14 13 7 7

Peter Wright 14 13 9 9

Anthony De Fazio 14 10 7 7

Susan Rix 14 14 9 9

Tim Oldham 14 13 13 13

Byron Fuller1 1 1 0 0

Former Directors

Michael Currie2 6 6 4 4

(1) Byron Fuller was appointed as a Director on 26 May 2023. 
(2) Michael Currie retired as a Director on 20 January 2023.

All Directors requested and were granted leave for meetings they were unable to attend.

Directors’ Report
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Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company during the year were the provision of processing, settlement and 
monitoring services in relation to financial access products including:

•	 Cards (Credit, Debit, Gift and Prepaid card programs) and

•	 Payments (NPP, BPAY, Chequing & Direct Entry - counter-party settlement, dispute management, stock 
production and transaction reporting).

Additional services include:

•	 Financial crimes – mitigating fraud and AML; and
•	 The supply of software applications (principally banking software) and related professional services.

Dividends
Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:

Name
2022-23 

$’000
2021-22 

$’000

Dividend Paid 28 October 2022 (prior year: paid 28 October 2021) 1,045 810 

Review of Operations
An operating profit after tax of $3.922 million (2022: $3.415 million) was achieved this year. A full review of 
operations is contained in the Chair and CEO’s report.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
No significant changes occurred in the state of affairs of the Company during the year not otherwise disclosed in 
this report, or the financial report. 

Events Subsequent to Balance Date
The Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in the report that has 
significantly, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state 
of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years, since the end of the financial year. 

On the 3 August 2023, the Company executed a deed of settlement with a client that related to early termination 
of payment services. The settlement amount of $1.37m excluding GST will be recognised in full in the FY24 
financial year. 

Likely Developments
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of operations 
have not been included in this annual financial report because the Directors believe it would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 

Directors’ Report
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Director’s Benefits
No Director of Indue Ltd has, since the end of the previous financial year, received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit (other than a benefit included in the total amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by 
Directors shown in the accounts) by reason of a contract made by the Company, or a related body corporate 
with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a Company in which the Director has a 
substantial financial interest.

Insurance of Officers
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors, Secretaries 
and specified employees of the Company. In accordance with normal commercial practice, disclosure of the total 
amount of the premium paid, and the terms of the policy, are prohibited from being disclosed by a confidentiality 
clause in the contract of insurance.

Rounding of Amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities & Investments 
Commission (ASIC) on 24 March 2016, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Directors’ report and financial 
statements. Amounts in the Directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
set out on page 26.

Non-Audit Services
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where 
the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company are important. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (KPMG) for audit and non-audit services provided during the 
year are set out in note 5. 

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the Audit 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the provision  
of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

•	 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality 
and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in The Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants APES 110, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting 
in a management or a decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly 
sharing economic risk and rewards.

Directors’ Report
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Environmental Regulation 
The Company’s operations are not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under any law 
of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

This report is made out in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

For and on behalf of the Board.

	

F Gullone	 A De Fazio
Chair, Board	 Deputy Chair, Board

Brisbane  
25 August 2023

Directors’ Report
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20 
KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and 
logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by 
a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Indue Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Indue Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2023 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG Ben Flaherty 
Partner 

Brisbane 
25 August 2023 

20 
KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and 
logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by 
a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Indue Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Indue Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2023 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG Ben Flaherty 
Partner 

Brisbane 
25 August 2023 
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Notes
2023
$’000

2022
$’000

Interest revenue 20,651 1,229

Interest expense (13,547) (410)

Net interest income 7,104 819

Other fee income 95,838 102,519

Fees expense (40,873) (48,978)

Net other fee income 54,965 53,541

Other non-interest revenues 3 10,840 	 12,653

IT services (4,780) (4,260)

Depreciation & amortisation (9,108) (8,812)

Employee benefits expense (35,224) (31,658)

Professional services (1,255) (1,164)

Project expenses (7,586) (7,108)

Other expenses (9,930) (9,109)

OPERATING PROFIT FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAX 5,026 4,902

Income tax (expense)/benefit 4 (1,104) (1,487)

OPERATING PROFIT FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS AFTER INCOME TAX 3,922 3,415

Profit attributable to the owners of Indue Ltd 3,922 3,415

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
Changes in reserves 16 1,723 504

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
THE OWNERS OF INDUE LTD 5,645 3,919

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

Statement of Profit or Loss and  
Other Comprehensive Income
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023
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Notes
2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 6 380,895 305,882

Receivables due from other financial institutions 4,330 6,575

Trade and other receivables 7 15,261 15,197

Other financial assets at amortised cost 6 309,398 323,189

Intangible assets 8 20,621 20,933

Property, plant and equipment 9 7,392 10,745

Other assets 11 9,785 3,945

Net deferred tax asset 10 2,250 	 361

Current tax asset 586 	 -

TOTAL ASSETS 750,518 686,827

LIABILITIES

Deposits 12 658,319 571,948

Payables due to other financial institutions 7,331 5,728

Creditors and other liabilities 13 13,803 13,699

Borrowings 6 	 - 27,022

Provisions 14 6,703  5,537

Current tax liability 	 - 1,408

TOTAL LIABILITIES 686,156 625,342

NET ASSETS 64,362 61,485

EQUITY

Contributed equity 15 16,991 16,991

Reserves 16 	 - 1,723

Retained earnings 47,371 42,771

TOTAL EQUITY 64,362 61,485

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2023
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023

Contributed 
Equity 
$’000

Reserves 
$’000

Retained 
Earnings 

$’000
Total 

$’000

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2021 17,265 1,219 40,166 58,650

Profit for the Period 	 - 	 - 3,415 3,415

Total other comprehensive income 	 - 	 504 	 - 504

Total comprehensive income for the year 
as reported 	 - 	 504 3,415 3,919

Shares issued/repurchased (274) 	 - 	 - (274)

Dividends provided for or paid 	 - 	 - (810) (810)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2022 16,991 1,723 42,771 61,485

Profit for the Period 3,922 3,922

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 	 - (1,723) 1,723 	 -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 
as reported 	 - (1,723) 5,645 3,922

Shares issued/repurchased 	 - 	 - 	 - 	 -

Dividends provided for or paid 	 - 	 - (1,045) (1,045)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2023 16,991 	 - 47,371 64,362

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 20,651 1,229

Interest paid (13,428) (291)

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 119,071 189,570

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (113,976) (133,269)

Income taxes paid (4,988) (2,666)

Loans and investments 13,792 4,084

Deposits 86,371 20,687

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 107,493 79,344

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Payments for intangible assets (4,637) (3,699)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (1,271) (2,491)

Proceeds from property sale 3,500 	 -

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,408) (6,190)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Payment of lease liabilities (2,005) (1,904)

Lease incentive received - 1,056

Borrowings received / (paid) (27,022) 27,022

Dividends paid to company’s shareholders (1,045) (810)

Share buyback - (274)

NET CASH INFLOW/ (OUTFLOW) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (30,072) 25,090

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 75,013 98,244

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 305,882 207,638

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR 380,895 305,882

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Cash Flows
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023
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1.	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Indue Ltd (the ‘Company’) is domiciled in Australia. The Company’s registered office is at 601 Coronation Drive, 
Toowong, Queensland. 

The company is a for-profit entity and primarily operates in the payment services industry offering white labelled 
and transactional products to financial institutions, commercial businesses and government departments.  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

(a)	 Basis of preparation 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on 
a standalone basis and in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial statements comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 August 2023. 

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 
of certain classes of property, plant and equipment. 

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant  
to the financial statements are disclosed in note 1(r). Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on  
an ongoing basis. 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements except for any new accounting standards adopted during the current year. 

Changes in Comparatives
Where applicable prior year figures have been adjusted in accordance with current year disclosures.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and  
presentation currency. 

Rounding
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191 dated 24 March 2016 and in accordance with that Instrument, all financial information presented in 
Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023
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(b)	 Financial assets

Recognition and de-recognition
Regular purchases of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Company commits to 
purchase the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset, for all financial assets not carried at fair value through the profit or loss. 

Financial assets are derecognised when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired; or

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have been transferred and the Company has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; or

•	 the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does 
not retain control of the financial asset. 

Classification
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are not 
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for managing 
financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following:

•	 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

•	 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, receivables due from other financial 
institutions, and other financial assets at amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables are receivables from contracts with customers, contract assets, other accruals and 
clearing accounts. Contract assets primarily relate to the Company’s right to consideration for work completed 
but not billed at the reporting date on customised software development. Contract assets are transferred to Trade 
Debtors when the rights become unconditional and this usually occurs when an invoice is issued to the customer.

Receivables from other financial institutions are amounts receivable from counterparties for the purposes of 
funding daily settlement.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are short term deposits and fixed term notes. 

Subsequent measurement 
Financial Assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised 
cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in the profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-recognition is recognised in the profit or loss.

(c)	 Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for  
disclosure purposes. The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated 
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Company 
for similar financial instruments. Refer to note 2(a).

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023
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(d)	 Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of 
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the 
revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

The fair value of land and buildings must be estimated for disclosure purposes. The Company discloses the fair 
value measurements by level using the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

•	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 

•	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and

•	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised, net of tax, in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease 
previously recognised in the profit or loss, the increase is first recognised in the profit or loss. Decreases that 
reverse previous increases of the same asset are first recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of 
the remaining surplus attributable to the asset. All other decreases are charged to the profit or loss. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line basis, (with the exception 
of motor vehicles which are depreciated using the diminishing value method) to allocate their cost or revalued 
amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Assets Years

Buildings 40 years

Vehicles 3-6 years

IT Hardware and Software 2.5-5 years

Furniture, fittings and equipment 5-15 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in 
the profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is Company policy to transfer the amounts included in reserves 
in respect of those assets to retained earnings.
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(e)	 Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

Expected credit losses (ECLs) are either measured over 12 months or the expected lifetime of the financial asset, 
depending on credit deterioration since origination. The Company’s ECL is the product of credit risk factors 
such as probability of default, exposure at default, and loss given default. The credit risk factors are adjusted for 
current and forward-looking information using macro-economic variables. The maximum period considered when 
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls and discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets. The amount of the expected credit loss is recognised in the profit or loss, within 
other expenses.

Credit impaired assets
Financial assets are reviewed on an ongoing basis for collectability or credit impairment. An asset is ‘credit-
impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred. 

Asset write off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against other expenses in the profit or loss.

(f)	 Income tax

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable or receivable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the notional income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the deferred 
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by 
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, 
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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(g)	 Leases

As a lessor
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocated the 
consideration on the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an 
operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance 
lease, if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators 
such as whether the lease is for a major part of the economic life of the asset.

The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term as part of non-interest revenue (note 20).

As a Lessee
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost. This comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred, an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or an estimate of costs to restore the underlying asset or the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to 
the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end 
of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase option.  
In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined 
on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced 
by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate (note 20).

(h)	 Impairment of Assets

Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not subject to amortisation. It is tested annually for impairment or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Refer to note 8 for information 
on the determination of the recoverable amount in relation to goodwill.

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at a consolidated level, with 
Indue being treated as a single cash generating unit (CGU).

Climate Change Risk
Whilst the potential risks and related opportunities from climate change are considered as part of the Company’s asset 
impairment review, based on what is currently known, Indue does not expect that this will have a significant impact 
on the Company’s principal activities or financial position, particularly from an asset impairment standpoint.
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(i)	 Employee benefits

Wages and salaries and annual leave
Short term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount 
expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay these incentives as a result 
of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Long service leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and is measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates on national government guaranteed 
securities with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Short term and long-term incentive payments
A liability for short term and long-term incentive payments is recognised in the provision for employee benefits 
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay these 
incentives as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(j)	 Revenue recognition
The Company recognises revenue when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. 

Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time or over time – requires judgement. The Company’s 
products and services have been assessed in detail and the following typical performance obligations and 
measurement methodologies were identified and have been used in the preparation of these financial statements. 

Type of Performance Obligation Revenue Category
Obligation 
Satisfied Methodology

Licence Fees – Upfront Fee Other Fee Income Over Time Output Method

Licence Fees – Monthly Fee Other Fee Income Point in Time N/A

Licence Fees – Transactional Fees Other Fee Income Point in Time N/A

Revenue for customised software development Sales Over Time Input Method

Software Support Services – Upfront Fee Other Fee Income Over Time Output Method

Software Support Services – Monthly Fee Other Fee Income Point in Time N/A

If it is determined that a contract does not exist, the Company will recognise any consideration received from the 
customer as a deposit (liability).

Revenue recognition for the major business activities is as follows:

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. The calculation of the 
effective interest rate includes all fixed costs and fees and payments paid or received that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate.
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Fee income
Fee income (excluding amounts that are integral to the effective interest rate) is recognised in the period in which 
the services are rendered (Output Method). Fee income includes licence fees and software support services fees. 
Licence and software support services fees are billed on a monthly basis. 

Sales income
Contract revenue includes income generated for the development and / or implementation of payment software 
systems under specifically negotiated contracts with customers. The Company recognises contract revenue based 
on an assessment of the work performed against the individual component of the contracted statement of works at 
the reporting date (Input Method).

Rental income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contract balances
The timing of revenue recognition, billing and cash collection results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled 
receivables (contract assets), and customer advances (contract liabilities). Sales income or revenue for customised 
software development is billed as work in progress in accordance with agreed contractual terms either at periodic 
intervals or on achievement of contractual milestones. 

(k)	 Cash and Cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks, net of outstanding  
bank overdrafts. 

(l)	 Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of financial 
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(m)	 Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at 
the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the 
reporting period.

(n)	 Deposits and other financial liabilities
Deposits and other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in  
the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method.

Deposits
Deposits are funds lodged by customers for the purposes of funding daily transaction settlement and as security 
deposits for providing cash security against settlement risk directly attributable to settlement activity undertaken by 
the Company on their behalf. Interest is brought to account on an accrual basis.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023

37Indue Annual Report 2022/2023



Payables to other financial institutions
Payables due to other financial institutions are amounts due to counterparties for the purposes of funding daily 
settlement for the various payment markets in which the Company participates. Refer to note 2. Interest is brought 
to account on an accrual basis.

(o)	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. 

(p)	 Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as share capital. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase 
consideration.

(q)	 New accounting standards and interpretations

Changes in Significant Accounting Policies
A number of new standards are effective for the annual period beginning 1 July 2022 and earlier application 
is permitted. The Company has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these financial 
statements. These new or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements.

(r)	 Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The estimates and assumptions that may 
have a significant risk of causing material adjustments are in respect of Goodwill, Intangibles and Property, Plant 
and Equipment. For the details of these assumptions refer to note 8 in respect of Intangible Assets and note 9 for 
Property, Plant and Equipment.

(s)	 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share of the net 
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions is included in 
intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised, however it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

IT development and software
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will 
contribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to 
software and systems. Costs capitalised include internal directly attributable costs and external direct costs of materials  
and services. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over periods generally between 5 and 7 years.
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IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the program build and are recognised 
following completion of technical feasibility, where the Company has an intention and ability to use the asset and 
where the Company expects to derive future economic benefits.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements
SaaS arrangements are service contracts providing the Company with the right to access the cloud provider’s 
application software over the contract period. As such, the Company does not receive a software intangible asset at 
the contract commencement date. A right to receive future access to the supplier’s software does not, at the contract 
commencement date, give the customer the power to obtain the future economic benefits flowing from the software 
itself and to restrict others’ access to those benefits.

The following outlines the accounting treatment of costs incurred in relation to SaaS arrangements:

Accounting Treatment Type of Cost Incurred

Recognise as an operating expense over the term 
of the service contract

•	 Fee for use of application software

•	 Customisation costs

Recognise as an operating expense as the service 
is received

•	 Configuration costs

•	 Data conversion and migration costs

•	 Testing costs

•	 Training costs

Costs incurred for the development of software code that enhances or modifies, or creates additional capability 
to, existing on premise systems and meets the definition of and recognition criteria for an intangible asset are 
recognised as intangible software assets. 

(t)	 Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash flows.

(u)	 Repurchase Agreement
Repurchase agreements involve the sale of securities with an undertaking to repurchase them on an agreed future 
date at an agreed price. In 2022 the Company elected to enter into a repurchase agreement with the Reserve Bank 
of Australia (RBA). Under the arrangement the Company sold qualifying securities to the RBA in exchange for the 
funds held in the Company’s Exchange Settlement Account (ESA) to meet outflows of funds that may occur after 
the normal trading day. The interest-bearing securities transferred are included in Floating Rate Notes under Other 
Financial Assets at amortised cost because the Company retains the risks and rewards of ownership. The obligation 
to repurchase is included in Borrowings. In 2023, The Company elected to end the repurchase agreement. 
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2.	 Financial Risk Management
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, liquidity risk, credit risk (principally 
settlement risk) and fair value estimation. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance 
of the Company. Risk management is carried out in accordance with the Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) approved 
by the Board of Directors. The Company uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering 
specific areas including liquidity management and large exposures which are reviewed annually.

(a)	 Accounting classifications and fair values
The Company discloses the fair value measurements by level using the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

•	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

•	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and

•	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The Company has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, 
trade receivables and other receivables, receivables due from other financial institutions, other financial assets at 
amortised cost, creditor and other liabilities, deposits, payables due to other financial institutions and borrowings 
as they are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair values are considered 
to be Level 2. 

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to Financial Risk Management during the year.

(b)	 Market risk

Foreign exchange risk
Company policy restricts investments and transactions in foreign currencies to avoid exposure to exchange  
rate movements.

Interest rate risk
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity periods 
is set out in the following tables. The Company manages its interest rate risk by matching the investment portfolio 
to the terms of deposits held. Investment mismatches greater than 30 days are subject to the Chief Financial 
Officer’s approval.

Exposures arise predominantly from assets bearing variable interest rates as the Company intends to hold fixed 
rate assets to maturity.
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Fixed interest maturing in:

Financial Assets Notes

Floating 
Interest 

Rate  
$’000

90 Days 
or less 
$’000

90 Days 
to 1 Year 

$’000

Over 1 to 
5 Years 

$’000

Non- 
interest 
Bearing 

$’000
Total  

$’000

At 30 June 2023

Cash and cash equivalents 6 380,895 - - - - 380,895

Receivables due from 
other financial institutions 554 - - - 3,776 4,330

Other financial assets at 
amortised cost - 248,127 61,271 - - 309,398

Trade & other receivables 7 825 - - - 14,436 15,261

382,274 248,127 61,271 - 18,212 709,884

Weighted average 
interest rate 2.86% 3.28% 3.67%

Fixed interest maturing in:

Financial Assets Notes

Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
$’000

90 Days 
or less 
$’000

90 Days 
to 1 Year 

$’000

Over 1 to 
5 Years 

$’000

Non- 
interest 
Bearing 

$’000
Total 

$’000

At 30 June 2022

Cash and cash equivalents 6 305,882 - - - - 305,882

Receivables due from 
other financial institutions 927 - - - 5,648 6,575

Other financial assets at 
amortised cost - 269,983 53,206 - - 323,189

Trade & other receivables 7 1,721 - - - 13,476 15,197

308,530 269,983 53,206 - 19,124 650,843

Weighted average 
interest rate 0.08% 0.39% 0.43%

Exposures arise predominantly from liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the Company intends to hold 
fixed rate liabilities to maturity.
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Financial Liabilities 

Fixed interest maturing in:

Notes

Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
$’000

90 Days  
or less  
$’000

90 Days 
to 1 Year 

$’000

Over 1 to 
5 Years 

$’000

Non- 
interest 
Bearing 

$’000
Total 

$’000

At 30 June 2023

Payables due to other 
financial institutions - - - - 7,331 7,331

Settlement funds 12 502,080 - - - - 502,080

Term deposits 12 - 104,968 51,271 - - 156,239

Creditors and other 
liabilities 13 - - - - 13,803 13,803

Borrowings 6 - - - - - -

502,080 104,968 51,271 - 21,134 679,453

Weighted average 
interest rate 2.37% 2.82% 3.29%

Fixed interest maturing in:

Financial Liabilities Notes

Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
$’000

90 Days  
or less 
$’000

90 Days 
to 1 Year  

$’000

Over 1 to 
5 Years 

$’000

Non- 
interest 
Bearing 

$’000
Total 

$’000

At 30 June 2022

Payables due to other 
financial institutions - - - - 5,728 5,728

Settlement funds 12 408,750 - - - - 408,750

Term deposits 12 - 109,992 53,206 - - 163,198

Creditors and other 
liabilities 13 - - - - 13,699 13,699

Borrowings 6 - - - - 27,022 27,022

408,750 109,992 53,206 - 46,449 618,397

Weighted average 
interest rate 0.02% 0.15% 0.56%
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Sensitivity Analysis 
The table below describes the impact to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income if 
interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end rates with all other variables held constant.

Variable
Movement 
in Variable

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Interest Income +100 bp 6,617 5,845

 -100 bp (6,617) (1,229)

Interest Expense +100 bp 6,151 3,612

 -100 bp (6,151) (410)

Net Interest Income +100 bp 466 2,233

 -100 bp (466) (819)

This sensitivity analysis has been prepared using the underlying average monthly balance of financial assets and 
liabilities and modelling the impact of an interest rate movement on the resultant interest income and expense. 
This approach has been consistently applied each period.

(c)	 Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. 
The Company manages liquidity risk in accordance with the Liquidity and Large Exposure Policies set by the Board 
and agreed with APRA. The Company undertakes daily monitoring of cash flows. The Company substantially 
matches the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities and aims to ensure that a ready supply of liquidity 
is available as financial liabilities fall due. Funds are invested in line with requirements stipulated in the approved 
Board Policies.

With Indue becoming a Tier 1 participant in Direct Entry and BPAY during the year to 30 June 2022, the Company has 
sought to strengthen its liquidity position and ensure compliance with minimum ESA balance requirements by entering 
into an open security repurchase (open repo) arrangement with the RBA. This arrangement ended in FY23. See note 1(u).

To further mitigate liquidity risk, the Company’s Large Exposure policy imposes concentration limits on the total 
amount of its liquid assets that can be held with a single counterparty. These limits vary depending upon the credit 
rating of the counterparty with the exception of the RBA (100% limit) and a specially approved limit with Westpac 
Banking Corporation (WBC). Concentration limits are reviewed as part of the Large Exposure policy annual  
review process.

Settlement risk
As a provider of settlement services, the Company is exposed to liquidity risk associated with settlement. 
Settlement risk is defined as a potential loss arising in the event that clients will be unable to honour their settlement 
obligations arising from daily transactional activity, exposing the Company to potentially having insufficient liquidity 
to settle with the market on behalf of the clients of the Company. Settlement positions are modelled at a client 
level daily to ensure each client will have sufficient liquidity in their settlement account to meet their next day 
settlement obligations. In addition, cash security deposits are held by the Company from each client to act as 
security against any unforeseen, unfunded settlement positions and action plans are in place to ensure that timely 
action is taken to cease all settlement activity on behalf of a client, in the event that the client is unable to continue 
to fund its own settlement obligations.
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Financing arrangements
The Company’s financing arrangements are limited to a single overdraft and the open repo arrangement.

Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows including interest on the liabilities. 

Financial Liabilities

90 Days 
or less 
$’000

90 Days 
to 1 Year 

$’000

Over 1 to  
5 Years  

$’000

Over  
5 Years  

$’000
Total  

$’000

At 30 June 2023

Payables due to other financial institutions 7,331 - - - 7,331

Settlement funds 502,080 - - - 502,080

Term deposits 106,286 52,288 - - 158,574

Creditors and other liabilities 12,478 - - - 12,478

Borrowings - - - - -

628,175 52,288 - - 680,463 

Financial Liabilities

90 Days 
or less 
$’000

90 Days 
to 1 Year 

$’000

Over 1 to  
5 Years  

$’000

Over  
5 Years  

$’000
Total  

$’000

At 30 June 2022

Payables due to other financial institutions 5,728 - - - 5,728

Settlement funds 408,750 - - - 408,750

Term deposits 110,212 53,547 - - 163,759

Creditors and other liabilities 13,506 - - - 13,506

Borrowings 27,022 - - - 27,022

565,218 53,547 - - 618,765
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(d)	 Credit risk
Credit risk arises predominantly from exposure to settlement risk, the risk of the Company completing financial 
settlement with the market on behalf of a client, where the client is unable to fund these settlement obligations 
back to the Company. 

To mitigate credit risk associated with the specific function of settlement, the Board has set specific security policies 
that require minimum levels of security to be held, matched to the credit standing of the customer, based on an 
internal credit risk review and the relevant settlement stream they participate in. Security is held in the form of cash 
and in some cases a mix of cash and a fixed and floating equitable charge over the assets of the client.

Compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by the Company’s treasury team and the Company’s 
risk management team undertakes stress testing of the settlement risk exposure on a monthly basis and reports its 
findings to the Board on a monthly basis. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as 
summarised in note 2 (b).

3.	 Revenue from Other Non-Interest Revenues

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Revenue from continuing activities before income tax expense includes 
the following specific net gains:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sundry income 4,270 4,533

Sales 5,885 7,884

Rental income 211 236

Net gain on property sale 474 -

Total other non-interest revenue 10,840 12,653
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4.	 Income Tax Expense

2023  
$’000

2022  
$’000

[a] Income tax expense

Current tax 2,182 2,523

Deferred tax (1,078) (1,036)

1,104 1,487

Income tax expense is attributable to:

Profit from continuing operations 1,104 1,487

Aggregate income tax expense 1,104 1,487

Deferred tax revenue included in income tax expense comprises:

Increase in deferred tax assets (153) (830)

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (924) (206)

(1,077) (1,036)

[b] Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 5,026 4,902

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2022 - 30%) 1,507 1,471

Capital gains on property sale (480) -

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating taxable income:

Sundry items 77 16

1,104 1,487

Over provision in previous years 	 - 	 -

Income tax expense 1,104 1,487

[c] Amounts recognised directly in equity

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not 
recognised in net profit or loss or other comprehensive income but directly 
debited or credited to equity

Net deferred tax – debited (credited) directly to equity (note 16) (812) 216

(812) 216
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Franking Account
Franking Credits available for subsequent years based on a tax rate of 30%.

2023  
$’000

2022  
$’000

Franking Credits available for subsequent periods based on a tax rate of 30% 
(2022: 30%) 15,856 12,863

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

•	 franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability;

•	 franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date;

•	 franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date; and

•	 franking credits that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent financial years.

5.	 Remuneration Of Auditor

2023  
$’000

2022  
$’000

Assurance services

Company auditor – KPMG Australia

Audit of financial statements under the Corporations Act 2001 192,100 165,000

Audit of regulatory returns 65,850 58,100

Total remuneration for audit services 257,950 223,100

Other advisory services

Company auditor – KPMG Australia

Accounting advisory - 12,500

Risk advisory 7,500 114,642

Total remuneration for other advisory services 7,500 127,142

During the year the above fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor. 
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6.	 Cash And Cash Equivalents And Investment Securities

Cash and cash equivalents
2023  
$’000

2022  
$’000

Bank Deposits – at call 331,385 256,372

Bank Deposits – 11am investments 49,510 49,510

380,895 305,882

The deposits at call are bearing average interest rates of 2.86% for 2023 (2022: 0.08%).

The 11am investments are bearing average interest rates of 2.83% for 2023 (2022: 0.07%).

Other financial assets at amortised cost
2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Term deposits 55,803 44,155

Certificates of deposit 35,515 40,773

Client Security Deposits 146,873 166,821

Floating Rate Note (FRN) 71,207 71,440

309,398 323,189

Floating rate notes of nil (2022: $30 million) are sold under agreements to repurchase.

Transferred financial assets continue to be recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company 
is deemed to have retained substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the financial assets transferred. 
This arose when the Company entered into an open-ended repurchase agreement with the RBA. The repurchase 
agreement commenced in March 2022 and ended in February 2023. Financial assets transferred comprised of 
floating rate notes valued at fair value, which in 2023 amounted to nil (2022: $30,000,000) and the carrying amount 
of associated financial liabilities in Borrowings, valued at fair value amounted to nil (2022: $27,022,996).

Borrowings
The short-term borrowings have been obtained under a repurchase agreement with the RBA. The repurchase 
agreements have a term of one month, expiring on the first day of the month. The RBA has no recourse to the 
Company beyond the securities subject to the repurchase agreement.
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7.	 Trade and Other Receivables

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Trade debtors – from contracts with customers 4,899 5,855

Contract asset 7,141 7,157

Other receivables 3,221 2,185

15,261 15,197

This note should be read in conjunction with note 2.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are past due but not impaired can be assessed by reference to the 
following table:

Financial Assets  
$’000

Amount not 
past due

Less than 
1 month

Between 
1m – 3m

Between  
3m – 6m

Over 
6 months Total

At 30 June 2023 4,321 578 - - - 4,899

At 30 June 2022 5,852 3 - - - 5,855

There were no individually impaired financial assets at the reporting date, nor any financial assets that would 
otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated (2022: nil). There was no movement in 
credit loss allowance during the year or amounts written off.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023

49Indue Annual Report 2022/2023



8.	 Intangible Assets

Goodwill 
$’000

Capital 
Initiatives in 

Use 
$’000

Capital 
Initiatives in 

Progress  
$’000

Total 
$’000

At 30 June 2022

Opening net book amount 4,061 15,945 2,289 22,295

Internally generated 	 - 	 - 3,701 3,701

Internally generated transfer to in use 	 - 2,405 (2,405) 	 -

Amortisations 	 - (5,063) 	 - (5,063)

Closing net book amount 4,061 13,287 3,585 20,933

At 30 June 2023

Opening net book amount 4,061 13,287 3,585 20,933

Internally generated 	 - 	 - 4,639 4,639

Internally generated transfer to in use 	 - 3,335 (3,335) 	 -

Amortisations 	 - (4,951) 	 - (4,951)

Closing net book amount 4,061 11,671 4,889 20,621

(a)	 Goodwill
Goodwill relates to the acquisition of Lynx Financial Systems Pty Ltd (Lynx) whose operations have been fully 
integrated with the Company. The recoverable amount of goodwill (including customer contracts and software 
acquired) was determined based on fair value less cost of disposal calculations at acquisition date.

(b)	 Capital Initiatives
Other intangible assets are comprised of internally generated software including the Nucleus Card Management 
software, Orion Fraud software and the New Payments Platform (NPP) software assets.

The Nucleus Software which is being amortised over 7 years, the Orion software and the NPP software assets which 
are being amortised over 5 and 7 years respectively, are the core drivers of the Company’s future growth strategy.
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Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Year Ended 30 June 2023

(c)	 Impairment 
Impairment testing for CGU’s containing goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Company’s single CGU. 

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Indue CGU 4,061 4,061

The recoverable amount of the CGU was based on the fair value less costs of disposal, estimated using discounted 
cash flows. The fair value measurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation 
technique used.

Intangible Assets are tested for impairment in accordance with note 1(h). The assumptions used in the fair value 
less cost of disposal calculations, are set out below:

•	 the projected future cash flows in the Company’s 5-year strategic plan;

•	 a terminal value calculated using the cash flows forecast to be generated in year 5 with a residual growth rate of 
2.5% (2022: 2.5%);

•	 a post-tax discount rate of 11.00% (2022: 11.00%).

Budgeted EBITDA was estimated taking into account past experiences, adjusted as follows:

•	 Revenue growth was projected taking into account the average growth levels experienced over the past five 
years and the estimated sales volume and price growth for the next five years.

A recoverable value of the assets in excess of its carrying value is supported and therefore the assets are not 
impaired at the 30 June 2023 (2022: nil). There is sufficient headroom to absorb reasonable changes to the 
cash flows. Management has determined there are no reasonably possible changes that could occur in the key 
assumptions that would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.
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9.	 Property, Plant And Equipment

Cost or Valuation
Accumulated 
Depreciation Written Down Value

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Land at Valuation - 1,143 - - - 1,143

Building at Valuation 4,499 6,305 3,299 3,093 1,200 3,212

Right of Use Asset 12,155 9,510 7,897 5,825 4,258 3,685

Plant & Equipment at cost 18,900 18,451 17,460 16,200 1,440 2,251

Under construction at cost 494 454 - - 494 454

36,048 35,863 28,656 25,118 7,392 10,745

The Company discloses the fair value measurements by level using the following fair value measurement hierarchy 
as outlined in note 1 (d). All Fair Value assets are classified at level 3. 

The fair value of land and buildings was determined by an external, independent property valuer, having appropriately 
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location, sales evidence, leasing opportunities 
and category of the property being valued. Market valuation was used to revalue the assets using comparable sales. 
In accordance with the Board policy in relation to the valuation of land and buildings in note 1(d), a valuation was 
undertaken by Civic MJD Australia (QLD Registration Number – 1582) on 10 October 2022, which valued the 6 Moorak 
Street Taringa property at $3,000,000 (21 April 2022: $3,000,000). The value represented for buildings in the table 
above is attributed to the leasehold property improvements at the Head Office at 601 Coronation Drive, Toowong; 
new premises at 88 Tribune Street, South Brisbane and the Sydney Office at 1 Denison Street, North Sydney, which 
do not form part of the valuation of the freehold land and buildings. The land and buildings at fair value are classified 
at level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. This fair value methodology is consistent year on year. 

On 4th May 2023, the Taringa property was sold for $3,500,000 and the net gain of $473,875 is disclosed in note 3.
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end  
of the current financial year are set out below.

Land 
$’000

Buildings  
$’000

Right of 
Use Asset 

$’000

Plant & 
Equipment 

$’000

Under 
construction 

$’000
Total  

$’000

Carrying amount at 30 June 2021 1,143 1,333 3,361 2,906 418 9,161

Transfer between asset classes 	 - 1,268 - 977 (2,242) 3

Additions 	 - 213 2,257 - 2,278 4,748

Disposals 	 - 	 - (134) 	 - 	 - (134)

Revalue increments 	 - 720 	 - 	 - 	 - 720

Depreciation 	 - (322) (1,799) (1,632) 	 - (3,753)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2023 1,143 3,212 3,685 2,251 454 10,745 

Transfer between asset classes 	 - 10 	 - 464 (474) -

Additions 	 - 755 2,645 	 - 514 3,914

Disposals (1,143) (1,850) - 61 	 - (2,932)

Depreciation - (927) (2,072) (1,336) 	 - (4,335)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2023 - 1,200 4,258 1,440 494 7,392

If Land and Buildings were carried at cost, Land would be nil (2022: $225,000), Buildings would be nil (2022: $825,000) 
and accumulated depreciation would be nil (2022: $556,875).
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10.	 Net Deferred Tax Asset

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

TAX ASSET
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in Profit or Loss

Employee benefits 1,694 1,501

Other 2,389 2,429

4,083 3,930

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 3,930 3,100

Charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
(note 4(a))

153 830

Closing balance at 30 June 4,083 3,930

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (1,833) (3,569)

NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET 2,250 361

TAX LIABILITY
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in Profit or Loss

Intangible Assets 435 1,314

Land - 307

Building - 555

Plant & Equipment (169) 50

Right of Use 1,277 1,106

Make Good 87 62

Other 203 175

1,833 3,569

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 3,569 3,559

Charged to Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
(note 4(a))

(924) (206)

Charged to equity (note 16) (812) 216

Closing balance 30 June 1,833 3,569
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11.	 Other Assets

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Inventory - current 19 57

Prepayments – current 8,144 3,666

Contract costs – current 1,622 222

9,785 3,945

12.	 Deposits

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Settlement funds – current 502,080 408,750

Term deposits – non-current 156,239 163,198

658,319 571,948
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13.	 Creditors And Other Liabilities

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Current

Trade creditors 6,586 7,889

Lease liability - 1,938

Contract liabilities 514 687

Accrued interest payable 1,325 193

Non-current

Lease liability 5,378 2,992

13,803 13,699

The contract liabilities primarily relate to advance consideration received from customers for which revenue is 
recognised over time when the related service is received by the customer. For the year ended 30 June 2023, 
the Company recognised as revenue $733,107 included in contract liabilities (2022: $234,668). No information is 
provided about remaining performance obligations at year end that have an original expected duration of one year 
or less, as allowed by AASB 15. There is no revenue recognised in the current year from performance obligations 
satisfied in previous periods.

Refer to note 20 for the terms and conditions of the related lease arrangements.

The lease incentive for the new premises at 88 Tribune Street, South Brisbane is higher than the current lease 
liability for all premises. All lease liability has therefore been classified as non-current.
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14.	 Provisions

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Current

Employee entitlements 4,679 4,235

Other 163 137

Non-current

Employee entitlements 965 770

Make good 896 395

6,703 5,537

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee entitlements are set out below:

Make Good 
$’000

Other  
$’000

Carrying amount at 30 June 2021 474 96

Additional provisions recognised 224 167

Amounts used during the period (303) (126)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 395 137

Additional provisions recognised 767 250

Amounts used during the period (266) (224)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2023 896 163

(a)	 Employee entitlements
The current provision for employee entitlements includes accrued annual leave and long service leave. For long 
service leave it covers all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of 
service. For these employees, the entire amount of the provision is presented as current since the Company does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. Based on past experience, the 
Company does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment of the current 
provision within the next 12 months. The non-current provision for long service leave covers all other employees 
where the required period of service has not yet been completed.

(b)	 Employee superannuation guarantee contributions
The superannuation guarantee contributions for year ending 30 June 2023 were $2,635,471 (year ending 30 June 
2022 $2,303,050).
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15.	 Capital

Contributed Equity

Shares $’000

2023 2022 2023 2022

Ordinary A Class Shares on issue 109,260 109,260 15,248 15,248

Ordinary B Class Shares on issue 14,751 14,751 1,743 1,743

124,011 124,011 16,991 16,991

There were no issues of share capital during the financial year.

The Company’s Issued Share Capital is $16.991 million. All issued shares are fully paid.

The holders of ordinary A class shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. The holders of ordinary B class shares are entitled to 
receive dividends as declared from time to time, however do not carry the right to vote. From time to time, under 
the constitution, the Directors may place shares into suspense, which precludes those shares from being eligible 
for a dividend. The Company’s constitution requires that no individual shareholder has more than 15 percent voting 
rights of class A shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to participate in the proceeds on winding up of the company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

Capital risk management 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to maximise the beneficial use of available capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the value of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new capital instruments or change the composition of its 
investments.

APRA sets and monitors capital requirements under Prudential Standard APS 110 Capital Adequacy. Under the 
standard the Company must maintain minimum levels of Tier 1 capital and may also hold Tier 2 capital up to 
certain prescribed limits.

Tier 1 capital comprises the highest quality components of capital that must fully satisfy the following characteristics:

•	 Provide a permanent and unrestricted commitment of funds;

•	 Are freely available to absorb losses;

•	 Do not impose any unavoidable servicing charges against earnings; and

•	 Rank behind claims of depositors and creditors in the event of a winding up.

Tier 2 capital comprises capital instruments that to varying degrees, fall short of the quality of Tier 1 capital, but 
exhibit some of the features of equity, and contribute to the overall strength of the Company as a going concern.
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Capital in the Company is made up as follows:

30 June 2023 
($)

30 June 2022 
($)

Tier 1 Capital

Paid-up shares 16,990,560 16,990,560

Reserves - 1,722,340

Retained Earnings, including Current Year Earnings 47,370,510 42,772,646

Deductions from Tier 1 Capital

Total deductions (including goodwill, and investments) (22,871,641) (21,295,188)

Tier 2 Capital

Total Tier 2 Capital (net of deductions) 	 - 	 -

Total Capital 41,489,429 40,190,358

The Company’s Capital Adequacy Ratio at financial year ends are as follows:

Capital Adequacy Ratio
30 June 2023 

(%)
30 June 2022 

(%)

Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio 17.75 16.27

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio 17.75 16.27

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company for the year.

Dividends
2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Dividend paid 28 October 2022 1,045 810
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16.	 Reserves

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance 1 July 1,723 1,219

Revaluation – gross (note 9) - 720

Deferred tax (note 4) 812 (216)

Sale of Property (2,535) -

Balance 30 June - 1,723

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, 
as described in note 1[d].

17.	 Related Party Information

Wholly owned Group
The Company does not have significant restrictions on its ability to access or use its assets and settle its liabilities 
other than those resulting from the supervisory frameworks within which Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions 
operate. 

Transactions with related parties are conducted on an arm’s length basis. 

Directors
The following persons were Directors of Indue Ltd during the financial year:

Chair – Non-executive F Gullone 

Non-executive Directors M Currie

P Townsend 

P Wright

A De Fazio

S Rix

T Oldham

B Fuller
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Key management personnel
The following persons had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Name Position

D Weatherley Chief Executive Officer 

A Buckley Chief Financial Officer 

J Hinton General Counsel & Chief Risk Officer 

R Spain Chief Information Officer

F Perry Chief Customer Officer

K Lugg Chief Delivery Officer

Key management personnel compensation

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,028,415 3,270,570

Post-employment benefits 197,532 218,796

3,225,947 3,489,366

There are no other benefits for key management personnel other than those disclosed above.
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18.	 Cash Flow Information

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 380,895 305,882

380,895 305,882

Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities to operating profit 
after income tax

Operating profit after income tax 3,922 3,415

Depreciation and amortisation 9,108 8,812

Decrease in receivables due from other financial institutions 2,245 65,356

Increase in trade and other receivables (538) (2,473)

Decrease in other financial assets at amortised cost 13,792 4,084

Increase in other assets (5,840) (60)

Decrease in current tax payable (3,883) (1,179)

Increase/(decrease) in payables due to other financial institutions 1,606 (20,281)

Increase in deposits 86,371 20,687

Increase/(decrease) in creditors and other liabilities (306) 484

Increase in provisions 897 380

Increase in ROU interest 119 119

Net cash flows from operating activities 107,493 79,344
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19.	 Contingent Liabilities
Indue maintains the following arrangements with banks:

• Guarantees of $5,602,518 secured by term deposits for leased properties and Government projects;

• Daily settlement facility limits of $91,873,592 secured by corresponding client deposits.

Apart from the above there are no present obligations that have arisen from past events which have not been 
recognised, nor are there possible obligations arising by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events, not wholly within the control of the entity.

20.	 Lease Commitments
Company as lessor

The Company leased its premises at 6 Moorak Street, Taringa under a non-cancellable operating lease which 
expires in 2024. The Company had classified this lease as an operating lease because it does not transfer all the 
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the asset. On 4 May 2023, the property was sold (note 9) and the 
lease contract was transferred to the buyer.

2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments 
to be received after the reporting date as follows:

Within one year - 162

Later than one year but not later than five years - 139

- 301

Company as lessee
The Company leases office premises which typically run for a period of 5-7 years, with an option to renew the lease 
after that date. The Company also leases office equipment with a contract term of 5 years.

Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is below:

Right of use asset
Building 

$’000
Equipment 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2022 3,614 72 3,685

Additions 2,645 - 2,645

Disposals 	 - - -

Depreciation charge for the year (2,029) (44) (2,072)

Balance at 30 June 2023 4,230 28 4,258
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Amounts recognised in profit or loss
2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Leases under AASB 16

Interest on lease liabilities 110 119

Short term and/or low value leases 2 2

Amounts recognised in cash flow
2023 
$’000

2022 
$’000

Total cash outlay for leases 2,005 1,904

Total incentive received - (1,056)

21.	 Subsequent Events
On the 3 August 2023, the Company executed a deed of settlement with a client that related to early termination of 
payment services. The settlement amount of $1.37m excluding GST will be recognised in full in the FY24 financial year. 
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the directors of Indue Ltd (‘the Company’):

(a)	 the Company financial statements and notes set out on pages 27 to 64 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)	 complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(ii)	 �giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of its performance, 
for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b)	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

The Directors draw attention to note 1(a) to the financial statements, which include a statement of compliance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

	

F Gullone	 A De Fazio
Chair, Board	 Deputy Chair, Board

Brisbane
25 August 2023
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Indue Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Indue Limited for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2023 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG Ben Flaherty 
Partner 

Brisbane 
25 August 2023 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the shareholders of Indue Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Indue Limited (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Company’s financial position as at 30 
June 2023 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on 
that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

The Financial Report comprises: 
 

• Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023; 

• Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income;  

• Statement of changes in equity and Statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies; and 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.  

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Indue Limited’s annual reporting which 
is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are responsible 
for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Act 2001 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error 

• assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf  This description forms part of our Auditor’s 
Report. 
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KPMG Ben Flaherty 
Partner 

 Brisbane 
25 August 2023 
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